ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 The circuit court erred in determining that Dr. Fisher was entitled to recover 
damages under the "Hayseeds" rubric simply because of Admiral's proper and 
good faith pursuit of a declaratory claim to rescind the policy, given that Admiral 
committed no breach of policy, and the policyholders were afforded all of the 
benefits and protections of the policy. 

IT. 	 The circuit court erred in ruling on the question of whether the statutory 
requirements of West Virginia Code § 33·6·7 for rescission could be met on 
summary judgment, because that detennination required an evidentiary trial, and 
the court further erred in concluding on summary judgment that Admiral was not 
entitled to rescind as a matter oflaw. 

ITL 	 In connection with its consideration of the rescission issues, the circuit court erred 
in refusing to apply the doctrine of collateral estoppel or issue preclusion to the 
findings of fact made against Dr. Fisher by the West Virginia Board of 
Osteopathic Medicine, which were affinned by this Court. 

IV. 	 The circuit court erred in conceiving that it is a defense to rescission under West 
Virginia Code § 33-6-7 that the insurer engaged in "post claim underwriting"; in 
effect that an insurer can be foreclosed from rescission if prior to issuance of the 
policy the insurer's underwriter could have been more thorough in investigating 
the representations made in the application process. 

V. 	 Even if the quality of the underwriting investigation is an issue under West 
Virginia Code § 33-6-7, the circuit court erred in ruling on the issue at the 
summary judgment stage and should have convened an evidentiary trial. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. 	 INTRODUCTION 

Petitioner pursued litigation to rescind a medical professional liability insurance policy 

under West Virginia Code § 33-6-7, on the basis that the policyholder made fraudulent andlor 

material misrepresentations and omissions during the application process. In brief, the policy 

issued in July 2011 upon an application completed and signed on June 30, 2011 by Philip Fisher, 

D.O., a so-called "pain specialist" operating in Huntington, on his own behalf and on behalf of 

his medical corporation, Pairodocs, Inc. Neither the application nor infonnation provided in 

response to underwriting inquiry revealed any allegation ofserious misconduct, and the applicant 

explicitly denied the existence of facts or circumstances suggesting that a medical malpractice 
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claim might be asserted against the insured. The policy specifically afforded coverage for "prior 

acts." Within a month of the policy's issuance, Dr. Fisher received a letter from a Charleston 

attorney giving notice of the intent to file a wrongful death action on behalf of Dr. Fisher's 

fonner girlfriend and fonner patient, who had died in November 2009 of an opioid drug 

overdose. Not long thereafter, the same attorney sent a second letter giving notice of an intention 

to sue on behalf of yet another fonner patient of Dr. Fisher, who had also died from an opioid 

drug overdose in 2009. As it turns out, prior to Dr. Fisher's application for insurance, in 

December 2010 six months prior to the application the federal Drug Enforcement Agency 

("DEA") had initiated an investigation into Dr. Fisher's involvement in fourteen overdose deaths 

by serving a search warrant on Dr. Fisher's medical offices and residence. l That event was 

widely reported in the local media and was thus made known to the community of plaintiffs' 

medical malpractice lawyers in southern West Virginia. In addition, in January 2011, also six 

months before the submission of the insurance application, the West Virginia Board of 

Osteopathy ("Board of Osteopathy") had served Dr. Fisher with a complaint alleging serious 

Unfortunately, overdose deaths stemming from opioid drug usage, has become an epidemic in the 
United States. On July 31, 2017, the White House Commission on Combating Drug Addiction and the 
Opioid Crisis issued a report finding that approximately 142 Americans die every day from opioid 
overdoses, "a death toll equal to September 11th every three weeks." White House opioid commission to 
Trump: 'Declare a national emergency' on drug overdoses, The Washington Post (July 31, 2017), 
https:/Iwww.washingtonpost.com/news/wonklwp/20 17/07/31/white-house-opioid-commission-to-trump
declare-a-national-emergency-on-drug-overdoses/?utm_ term=. 71 a70bd 11885. On, August 10, 2017, 
President Trump declared the opioid crisis a national emergency. Ali Vitali (Associated Press), Trump 
says opioid crisis is a national emergency, pledges more money and attention, Pittsburgh Post-Gazette 
(Aug. 10, 2017), http://www.post-gazette.comlnews/overdosed/20 1710 S/IOlTrump-declares-opioid-crisis
is-a-national-emergency-pledges-more-money-and-attentionIstoriesl20 17081 00135. The state enduring 
the most hardship through this epidemic is West Virginia. According to the CDC, "West Virginia still 
leads the nation for overdose deaths. More than double the national average, West Virginia saw 39.3 
deaths per 100,000 residents in 2015." West Virginia Still Leads the Nation in Overdose Deaths, The 
Register Herald (Dec. 14, 20 16), http://www.register-herald.comlnews-/west-virginia-still-Ieads-the
nation-in-overdose-deaths/article_la77c96a-4ed7-5359-9c92-03c20c6883bb.html. In 2016, 86% of the 
overdose deaths that occurred in West Virginia resulted from opioid use. AP, Overdose Deaths Continue 
to Rise in West Virginia, U.S. News & World Report (Mar. 7, 2017), https:llwww.usnews.com/newslbest
states/west-virginialarticles/2017-03-07/overdose-deaths-continue-to-rise-in-west-virginia. 
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misconduct involving at least two deceased fonner patients, and others.2 The Board sought 

revocation of his license, alleging his acts of misconduct constituted a "danger to the public". 

The foregoing events were not revealed by Dr. Fisher during the insurance application process. 

In response to the filing of the two wrongful death actions, Admiral retained counsel to 

defend, but through counsel undersigned issued a letter asserting an intention to pursue rescission 

of the policy. Thereafter, Admiral instituted a declaratory action in federal court. However, the 

wrongful death plaintiffs responded by joining Admiral as a third-party defend.ant in the pending 

wrongful death actions for a declaration that the policy could not be rescinded.3 The agent and 

broker who had participated in placing the policy were joined as parties. 

Despite abundant evidence that Dr. Fisher made fraudulent and/or material 

misrepresentations and omissions during the application process and essentially thwarted 

Admiral's underwriting inquiries, the circuit court entered summary judgment for Dr. Fisher 

finding that he neither committed fraud, nor materially concealed the truth; and attributed 

Admiral's effort to rescind to "post-claim underwriting." Thereafter, Admiral settled the two 

wrongful death claims, with contribution from the agent and broker. Nonetheless, and despite 

that Admiral at all times provided all rights and benefits of the policy, the circuit court awarded 

the insureds attorneys' fees and costs, and permitted a jury to assess consequential damages for 

aggravation and inconvenience, essentially as a penalty for Admiral's pursuit of rescission 

litigation. The circuit court entered a judgment in favor of Dr. Fisher and against Admiral 

2 The Board of Osteopathy proceeding ultimately resulted in a revocation ofDr. Fisher's medical license 
based upon a litany of findings detailing numerous acts of egregious misconduct. The Board concluded 
that Dr. Fisher's misconduct in the practice of osteopathy constituted "an immediate danger to the 
public." The Board's findings and the revocation were unanimously affirmed by this Court in a 
Memorandum Decision entered on June 3,2016. See Fisher v. W. Va. Ed. o/Osteopathic Med, No. 15
0690,2016 WL 3136851 (WVa. June 3,2016). 
3 In deference to the declaratory judgment claims asserted in state court, the federal court dismissed 
Admiral's declaratory action onjurisdictionai grounds. 
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aggregating those damages in the amount of $411,709.11. Admiral seeks relief from the 

judgment. 

Admiral has been twice victimized. Once by fraud in the application process, and a 

second time by misapplication of the law by the Circuit Court of Cabell County. It is incumbent 

on this court to accord substantial justice. 

TI. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

On June 30, 2011, Dr. Fisher submitted an application for medical professional liability 

insurance with prior acts coverage· to Admiral through his agent James Crouse of Wells Fargo 

Insurance Services of West Virginia, Inc. (Wells Fargo), who forwarded the application to Mark 

Walker of National Specialty Underwriters, Inc. (NSUI), a wholesale insurance broker, who in 

turn submitted it to Admira1.4 R56, Rl12. 

In response to question six on page seven of the application, which asked: "Are you or 

any organization proposed for this insurance aware of any act, error, omission, fact, 

circumstance, or records request from any attorney which may result in a malpractice claim or 

suit?" Dr. Fisher answered "No". R71. Question nine on page seven inquired as follows: 

"Have you ever been notified to respond to, appear before or have you ever been investigated by 

any licensing or regulatory agency on a complaint of any nature, including but not limited to 

unprofessional or unethical conduct?" Dr. Fisher answered "Yes", but attached an "explanatory" 

memorandum, stating: 

There is a current complaint open with W.V. Board of Osteopathic 

Medicine. There has been three hearing dates scheduled and cancelled in 


Respondents had previously been insured by National Fire & Marine Insurance Company through 
Crouse and NSUI. In July, 2011, National Fire agreed to renew tqe policy, on the condition that Dr. 
Fisher furnish information regarding an administrative complaint pending against him. Evidently, 
National Fire became impatient, and cancelled his insurance policy effective March 1,2011. R541. Dr. 
Fisher was uninsured for three months, although he claims to have been unaware of it prior to applying 
for the Admiral policy. R1213. 
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regards to this issue. The next date is scheduled for some time in 
September of2011, a definite date has not been set yet. 

The complaint consists of treating fonner girlfriends and pre-signed 
prescription pads. Dr. Fisher's license has NOT been suspended, limited, 
or revoked in any manner. Nor has his DEA. As a matter offact the W.V. 
BOM renewed his license was renewed (sic) on 06112/2011. Enclosed is a 
copy ofhis license." 

R76. As will be shown, the explanatory memorandum thoroughly misstated the pending Board 

Complaint. No other infonnation was provided with the application, such as that he was under 

an investigation, widely reported in the local media, involving fourteen overdose deaths, 

including his former girlfriend. 

Admiral assigned Dr. Fisher's insurance application to Brandon Sollers ("SoUers") for 

underwriting. R123. Although on summary judgment the circuit court found Admiral's 

underwriting investigation to be deficient, Sollers initially issued a "non-binding" indication, and 

clearly did express a need for further underwriting information. RlO12. By email to NSur dated 

July 6, 2011, Sollers requested "full subjectivities" regarding pending complaints.s NSUI 

forwarded the email to Crouse, who responded on July 7,2011 stating that "I met with Dr. Fisher 

today and he has no patient complaints in the last few years. It turns out the two employees who 

turned him in are looking for whistleblower protection. They were fired for embezzling over 

$300K." R567.6 Based on this obvious misrepresentation, on July 12,2011, Sollers issued the 

policy, with prior acts coverage. RI01S. 

Although the circuit court found the disclosures made by Dr. Fisher during the 

5 Sollers explained that subjectivities is a tenn in the insurance industry for any additional infonnation 
requested by the insurer during the underwriting process. R1 012. 
6 It is remarkable enough that the circuit court concluded that Admiral was not victimized by fraud 
perpetrated by Dr. Fisher in the application process. But worse still, Crouse admitted that when he sent 
the July 7 email, he knew about the media account of the DBA search warrant and Dr. Fisher's fourteen 
deceased patients. RI015. His conduct obviously was palpable fraud. The trial court's conclusion that 
Admiral had nothing to complain about is astounding. 
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application process to be adequate, in fact, all of the following had transpired prior to the 

application: (1) on December 10, 2016, seeking a search warrant for Dr. Fisher's home and 

offices, the DEA had filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West 

Virginia an Affidavit of probable cause ("Affidavit") containing a litany of startling allegations 

against Dr. Fisher and averring that the authorities were "conducting an ongoing criminal 

investigation." R231-R234. The Affidavit stated that Dr. Fisher was under investigation for 

having "unlawfully obtained controlled substances from patients and re-distributed them to 

girlfriends and others .. , and for his own personal consumption"; and for "being potentially 

complicit in the overdose deaths of at least fourteen (14) individuals, including the death of a 

fonner girlfriend". R234-R235. Based on the Affidavit, the District Court issued a search 

warrant for Dr. Fisher's home and office, which it served on December 10, 2016. R222-R235, 

R1205; (2) the local media had widely quoted these allegations in its reporting on the search 

warrant, thus assuring wide dissemination of these allegations in the local area;7 (3) The Board of 

Osteopathy was proceeding on its complaint containing serious allegations of misconduct, 

including charging Dr. Fisher with unlawfully providing controlled substances to patients and to 

other persons, unlawfully possessing opioid medications for his own use, having "repeatedly 

engaged in sexual relationshipsu with mUltiple patients, and charging him with liability for the 

7 In his deposition testimony Dr. Fisher admitted that at the time he answered "No" to the question of 
whether he was "aware of any act, error, omission, fact, circumstance, or records request from any 
attorney which may result in a malpractice claim or suit[,]" he had been served with the DEA's search 
warrant and the Board of Osteopathy's complaint. R1218-R1224. If that were not enough to make him 
aware that he may be subject to a malpractice suit, Dr. Fisher testified at trial that he was aware 
infonnation had been published in the media regarding the DEA's investigation and his alleged role in the 
overdose deaths of fourteen patients. RI8S0-RI8S3. In fact, he admitted that the publication was 
"horrifyingly aggravating." Id. Accordingly, Dr. Fisher had reason to know that every plaintiff's 
attorney in Southern West Virginia was likely aware that he was allegedly complicit in the overdose 
deaths offourteen patients. 
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overdose death ofone ofthose individuals. R146-R147.8 

As stated, within a month after it issued the policy, in August, 2011 Dr. Fisher received a 

letter (which he forwarded to Admiral) from Charleston attorney William Tiano advising that his 

fum had been "retained by Peggy Wysong as the Administratrix of the estate of Marian K. 

Hyden with regard to a medical malpractice/wrongful death lawsuit against you regarding the 

wrongful death of Marian Kit Hyden." R568. In November 2011 Dr. Fisher received a similar 

letter from Mr. Tiano with regard to a medical malpractice/wrongful death lawsuit to be filed 

relating to the death of a second patient, Barry Blackburn. R171. 

III. 	 PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE. 

On November 4,2011, the heralded medical malpractice wrongful death action on behalf 

of the estate of Marian Hyden was filed against Dr. Fisher and Pairodocs, asserting allegations 

similar to those found in DBA Affidavit and the Board of Osteopathy's complaint, namely, that 

Dr. Fisher was responsible for Marian Hyden's drug overdose death because he "routinely" gave 

her prescription pain medication "without proper oversight and monitoring." R32, R34. As 

stated, Admiral was given notice of the suit, and immediately retained counsel to defend. In the 

meantime, by letter dated February 10, 2012, Admiral, through its undersigned counsel, 

informed Dr. Fisher that it would dispute whether it was required to afford coverage in the 

Wysong and Blackburn lawsuits, but that it would afford him a defense in those lawsuits. 

R1621-R1626. On January 26,2012, the second wrongful death action was filed on behalf of the 

estate of Mr. Blackburn, alleging that his death was caused by Dr. Fisher over-prescribing him 

with Methadone. R39, R41. The Blackburn complaint included a claim for declaratory relief 

against Admiral, seeking a determination that the medical professional liability insurance policy 

8 This was the Complaint that Dr. Fisher's "explanatory memorandum" described as involving "treating 
fonner girlfriends and pre-signed prescription pads". Remarkably, the Circuit Court found no material 
concealment. 
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at issue in this case was valid, and that it provided coverage for the Blackburn's claims. R42-

R50. On January 27, 2012, Wysong then amended her complaint to also include a count for 

declaratory relief against Admiral. Subsequently, the Wysong and Blackburn complaints were 

consolidated by the circuit court.9 

On January 31, 2013 Admiral filed its answer to the consolidated complaints, and also 

asserted a counterclaim to rescind the policy pursuant to West Virginia Code Section 33-6-7 on 

the basis that Dr. Fisher made fraudulent and material misrepresentations and omissions in his 

insurance application. In response, on February 14, 2013, Dr. Fisher and Pairodocs filed a cross

claim against Admiral seeking a declaration that Admiral was required to afford coverage under 

the policy, and also asserted a claim to recover attorneys' fees and consequential damages (i.e., 

damages for aggravation and inconvenience) pursuant to this Court's decisions in Hayseeds, Inc. 

v. State Farm Fire & Casualty, 177 W.Va. 323, 352 S.E.2d 73 (1986) and Aetna Casualty & 

Surety Co. v. Pitrolo, 176 W.Va. 190,342 S.E.2d 156 (1986). 

On January 27, 2014, the wrongful death actions for which Admiral was providing a 

defense were stayed pending a determination of the insurance dispute. R309. In fact, Dr. Fisher 

stipulated that he was "paid nothing for the legal defense they received in the Wysong and 

Blackburn wrongful death actions[,]" and the "defense was provided and paid for by Admiral." 

R1950. 

On December 19, 2014, the wrongful death plaintiffs, Wysong and Blackburn, filed a 

motion for summary judgment in which they argued that the circuit court should preclude 

Admiral from rescinding the insurance policy at issue on the basis that Admiral had failed in its 

9 On January 16,2012, Admiral had instituted a declaratory judgment action in the United States District 
Court for the Southern District of West Virginia seeking rescission of the policy on the basis of fraudulent 
and material misrepresentations and omissions in his insurance application. R97-111. The federal court 
eventually dismissed Admiral's declaratory judgment action in deference to the litigation of insurance 
issues in state court. R200. 
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duty to fully investigate the potential insurance risk presented by Dr. Fisher and Pairodocs prior 

to issuing the policy, and was engaged in "post-claim underwriting:' R418-R419. At a hearing 

on June I, 2016, the circuit court granted summary judgment from the bench in favor of the 

plaintiffs and Dr. Fisher and against Admiral on the issue of rescission. The substance of the 

court's ruling appears in the hearing transcript as follows: 

I think that Admiral intimately engaged in ... post claims underwriting 
and they had the information at their disposal. 

I do not find that there were any fraudulent, concealed, misrepresentations. 
Could there have been more information provided? Maybe. But again, he 
[Dr. Fisher] is not an attorney and he did provide the information about 
this complaint and had they just - and the application itself, specifically 
said, or required the doctor to sign an authorization for release of 
information and to let them go and look into anything and I think that is 
very telling and I think it is clear that more underwriting should have been 
done by Mr. Sollers, but instead they chose not to and now they are 
attempting to engage in post claim underwriting. 

So that will be the ruling of the court. 

R932-933. The circuit court offered no explanation as to why the startling DEA allegations, 

having been widely disseminated in the local media, might not be sufficient to persuade a 

reasonable juror (or perhaps several) to believe that Dr. Fisher was "aware of any act, error, 

omission, fact, circumstance, or records request from any attorney which may result in a 

malpractice claim or suit". The court likewise offered no rationale for why his explanatory

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