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

by the insured. See Jordan, 183 W. Va at12-14, 393 S.E.2d at 650-652; Miller, 201 W. Va. at 699, 

500 S.E.2d at 324. Thus; Fisher's claim for Hayseeds damages is now based on the facts that 

Admiral initially denied that it had any obligation to defend or indemnify him against the plaintiffs' 
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claims, forced Fisher to litigate to protect his rights under the policy, and then, after Fisher hired an 

attorney and endured approximately four and half years of coverage litigation, agreed to settle the 

plaintiffs' claims. No ruling from this Court on the rescission issue can change any ofthese facts. 14 

Accordingly, in the wake ofits decision to settle the claims against Fisher, Admiral has no standing 

to appeal the circuit court's ruling on the rescission issue. 

IV. 	 EVEN IF ADMIRAL COULD APPEAL THE CIRCUIT COURT'S RULING ON THE 
RESCISSION ISSUE, THE CIRCIDT COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT 
ADMIRAL COULD NOT RESCIND THE POLICY. 

A. 	 The circuit court did not err in concluding that post-claim underwriting is a 
defense to rescissio'n. 

Post-claim underwriting occurs where an insurer waits until after a claim has been filed to 

obtain information and make underwriting decisions which should have been made when the 

application was submitted. Hailey v. California Physicians' Serv., 69 Cal. Rptr. 3d 789, 799 (Cal. 

App. 4th 2007). The prohibition against post-claim underwriting is a well-reasoned legal principle 

endorsed by various courts. See Id. at 799-804; Lewis v. Equity Nat. Life Ins. Co., 637 So. 2d 183, 

188-189 (Miss. 1994); Thomas C. Cady & Georgia Lee Gates, Post Claim Underwriting, 102 W. 

Va. L. Rev. 809, 814 (2000); see also ForemostGua.r'. Corp. v. Meritor Sav. Bank, 910F.2d 118,127 

(4th Cir. 1990)( equating "knowledge the insurers could have gained throughieasonable inquiry with 

actual knowledge offacts sufficient to defeat their right to rescind," and describing the authority for 

this rule as "overwhelming"). As one court explained, 

An insurer has an obligation to its insureds to do its underwriting at the time a policy 
application is made, not after a claim is filed. It is patently unfair for a claimant to 

14 Moreover, Admiral settled the claims against Fisher. before any written Order was entered on 
the rescission issue, and never requested that such an Order be entered despite the settlement. As a 
result, this Court is left without the benefit of findings of fact and conclusions oflaw setting forth and 
supporting the circuit court's rationale. 
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obtain a policy, pay his premiums and operate under the assumption that he is insured 
against a specified risk, only to learn after he submits a claim that he is not insured, 
and, therefore, cannot obtain any other policy to cover the loss. The insurer controls 
when the underwriting occurs. It therefore should be estopped from determining 
whether to accept an insured six months or more after a policy is issued. If the 
insured is not an acceptable risk, the application should denied up front, not after a 
policy is issued. 

Lewis, 637 So. 2d at188-89. 

Though it did not use the term "post-claim underwriting," this Court has held that an insurer 

cannot deny coverage based on a misrepresentation by the insured at the application stage if the 

insurer did not conduct a reasonable inquiry. See Filiatreau v. Allstate Ins. Co., 178 W. Va. 268, 

271,358 S.E.2d 829,832 (1987). In Filiatreau, the plaintiff bought a fire insurance policy on a . 

building that he had contracted to purchase. Before the closing, ¢.e property was destroyed by fire. 

The plaintiff then purchased the damaged property at a substantially reduced price, and made a claim 

with his insurer for the full face amount ofthe policy. The trial court awarded the plaintiff the face 

amount ofthe policy. On appeal, this Court recognized an exception to this State's "valued policy" 

statute (which generally entitles an insured to the face value ofthe policy in case of total loss by fire) 

in situations where there has been a material misrepresentation or omissio~ by the insured. Id. at 

271,358 S.E.2d at 832. The Court then found a triable issue offact as to whether the plaintiff made 

a material omission by failing to inform the insurer during the application process that the risk ofloss 

remained on the seller of the building, which may have resulted in the insurer issuing a policy with 

a lower face amount. Id. 

However, the Court went on to hold that even if the insured made a material 

misrepresentation, the insurer has an obligation to conduct a reasonable inquiry as to the risk. In the 

words of the Court, 

[t]he insurer cannot issue a policy and collect premiums thereunder and later 
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complain that the insured's interest was overvalued due to an omission by the insured 
if the insurer never attempted to ascertain that interest through reasonable inquiry. 
Thus, even if it is found that the insured innocently misrepresented the extent ofhis 
insurable interest, the insured may still recover if it is found that the insurance 
company did not make a reasonable investigation as to the extent of the interest. 

Id. at 271-72,358 S.E.2d at 832-33 (citations omitted). Thus, this Court has plainly recognized that 

an insurer cannot deny coverage based on information that the insurer knew or should have gained 

through a reasonable inquiry. 

Neyertheless, Admiral makes the remarkable argument that W.Va. Code § 33-6-7 gives 

insures the right!o engage in post-claim underwriting. Section 33-6-7 provides as follows: 

All statements and descriptions in any application for an insurance policy or ill 
negotiations therefor, by or in behalf of the insured, shall be deemed to be 
representations and not warranties. Misrepresentations, omissions, concealments of 
facts, and'incorrect statements shall not prevent a recovery under the policy unless: 
(a) Fraudulent; or 
(b) Material either to the acceptance of the risk, or to the hazard a&sumed by the 
insurer; or 
(c) The insurer in good faith would either not have issued the policy, or would not 
have issued a policy in as large an amount, or would not have provided coverage with 
respect to the hazard resulting in the loss, if the true facts had been made known to 
the insurer as required either by the application for the policy or otherwise. 

4-

W. Va. Code § 33-6-7. Notably, the statute states that misrepresentations and omissions "shall not 

prevent" recovery under an insurance policy "unless" one of listed circumstances applies. In other 

words, it lists circumstances that can be a basis for rescission. It does not state that an insurer has 

an absolute right to rescind under the listed circumstances even where the insurer knew or should 

have known the facts allegedly mis~epresented or omitted, but.chose to issue the policy and collect 

premiums knowing that it can always pull the rug out from under the insured if and when a claim 

arises. Indeed, such a reading ofthe statute is absurd, especially in light ofthis Court's recognition 

that "W.Va. Code, 33-6-7 (1957), is designed to alleviate the harshness of the common law and is 

to be liberally construed in favor ofthe insured." Syl. Pt. 2, Powell v. Time Ins. Co., 181 W. Va. 289, 
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382 S.E.2d 342 (1989). Plainly, in passing a statute designed to alleviate the harshness that the 

common law previously imposed on insureds, the Legislature did not intend to guarantee insurers 

the right to take advantage of insureds by engaging in post-claim underwriting. 

Moreover, in Filiatreau, this Court specifically referenced W.Va. Code § 33-6,.7, yet held that 

even ifthe insured made a material misrepresentation, he could still recover under·the policy if the 

insurer.failed to conduct a reasonable investigation prior to issuing the policy. 178 W. Va. at 271

72,358 S.E.2d at 832-33. This flies in the face ofAdmiral's assertion that W.Va. Code § 33-6-7 

gives insurers an automatic right to rescind any time an insured makes a material misrepresentation 

or omission. Similarly, in Foremost, the district court allowed the insurers to rescind based on 

statutes similar to W.Va. Code § 33-6-7, and the Fourth Circuit reversed this ruling. 910 F.2d at 

126-127. Even in the face of these statutes, the Fourth Circuit recognized that "[a]n insurance 

company cannot avoid liability on the basis offacts known to it at the time the policy was delivered, II 

and held that the insurers are charged with the knowledge that they could have gained through 

reasonable inquiry. Id. at 127. Thus, after fmding that the alleged misrepresentations in that case 

would have been revealed upon reasonable inquiry, the Fourth Circuit held that "the insurers may 

not rescind on the basis of the misrepresentations they claim." Id. at 129. Accordingly, in the case 

at bar, the circuit court did not err in concluding that post-claim underwriting is ~ defense to 

reSCIssIon. 

B. 	 The circuit court did not err in concluding that the record in this case 
establishes beyond any genuine issue of material fact that Admiral engaged in 
post-claim underwriting. 

As an initial matter, the circuit court properly recognized the short-comings in. Admiral's 

assertions that Fisher.made material misrepresentations during the application process. Admiral's 

claim for rescission is based on three assertions: (1) that Fisher lied when he answered "no" to a 
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question on his insurance application that asked ifhe was aware ofcircumstances which may result 

in a malpractice claim; (2) that even though Fisher informed Admiral that there was a pending 

WVBOOM complaint against him, his brief explanatory note was false; and (3) that Fisher gave 

false infonnation in response to Admiral's request for "subj ectivities." None of these assertions 

holds up under scrutiny. 

First, Fisher did not lie when he answered "no" to the question ofw~ether he was aware of 

circumstances which may result in a malpractice claim. Admiral's assertion to the contrary is based 

on the WVBOOM's complaints and the DEA's allegations. The WVBOOM's complaint number 

2010-36 accuses Fisher of causing the death of only one person, and the alleged cause waS not 

medical malpractice, but the failure to adequately secure controlled substances from theft. R146

148. While the WVBOOM had also filed two earlier complaints, those complaints did not accuse 

Fisher ofcausing the death ofany patient. R270-289.15 Thus, the WVBOOM's complain~s did not 

put Fisher on notice ofany potential malpractice claim. In addition, Fisher did make Admiral aware 

that the WVBOOM had filed a complaint against him in response to another' question, and 

authorized Admiral to make whatever inquiries it wanted in connection with his application, so there 

can be no credible assertion that Fisher hid the information in the WVBOOM's complaints from 

Admiral. 

As to the DEA's allegations, Fisher has always denied that those allegations had any merit, 

and ultimately no criminal charges resulted from the D EA's investigation. Furthennore, to the extent . . 

that Admiral claims that Fisher should have answered "yes" due to the DEA's allegations, there can 

15 The statement ofcharges from these earlier complaints did acc~se Fisher of improperly 
treating a patient in 2005(R285-286), but given that the statute of limitations for any lawsuit based on 
that treatment would have expired long before 2011, Fisher had no reason to believe that this treatment 
could result in a malpractice claim. . 
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be no seri~us suggestion that Fisher was trying to conceal those allegations. The DEA's allegations 

were the subject ofmuch publicity in the local media and online. R428, 540, 552, 738-39, 747-48, 

788-89. Indeed, James Crouse, the only insurance professional Fisher communicated with in 

applying for insurance from Admiral, was well aware ofthe DEA' s allegations. R552. In addition, 

about 6 months before Fisher submitted his application to Admiral, Mark Walker ofNSUI, who 

assisted Admiral in gathering information to evaluate the insurance risk presented by Fisher, received 

an email containing a link to a news article detailing the D EA's allegations against Fisher. R 428-29, 

500-01,509-10,747-48. 16 Thus, even ifFisher had anY,reason to believe that the DEA's allegations 

(which, again, never resulted in any criminal charges) had merit, the DEA's allegations were 'no 

secret from the insurance professionals involved in the application process. 

Second, Fisher's explanatory note regarding the WYBOOM's complaint was not false. His 

note advised Admiral that there was a current complaint open with the WVBOOM, and stat,ed that 

the complaint "consists oftreating former girlfriends and pre-signed prescription pads." R76. Th~ 

WVBOOM's complaint number 2010-36 accuses Fisher of unlawfully distributing controlled 

substances, while the WVBOOM's earlier complaints expressly accused Fisher of pre-signing 

prescription pads. R146-48, 270-89. Complaint number 2010-36 also accuses Fisher engaging in 

sexual relationships with patients. R146-48. Fisher:s explanatory note was siinply his account, as 

a lay person, ofthese allegations. Yes, he did not describe all ofthe WVBOOM's allegations against 

him verbatim. However, as the circuit court recognized, while Fisher perhaps could have provided 

more information, he is'not an attorney (or an insurance professional), and did both make Admiral 

aware of the WVBOOM's complaint and authorize Admiral to make any inquiry it desired. R899, 

16 Walker testified that he would have relayed this infonnation to Admiral, but Admiral denies 
ever receiving it. R557. 
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932-33. Admiral, which is comprised ofinsurance professionals, made the choice not to review that 

complaint before issuing a policy to Fisher. 

"Third, with respect to Admiral's request for "subjectivities," Fisher truthfully responded to 

the question actually presented to him. NSUI, on behalfofAdmiral, asked James Crouse for "a list 

ofall patients that have filed complaints against [Fisher] recently." R566 (emphasis added). When 

Crouse relayed this request to Fisher, Fisher responded that there had been no patient complaints 

within the last few years. R567. The DEA allegations and WVBOOM complaints were not patient 

complaints, and there is no evidence of any recent patient complaints that Fisher should have 

disclosed. Thus, Fisher accurately responded to the question he was askeciP 

Regardless, even ifthere is an issue about the adequacy ofFisher's responses to Admiral's 

questions, the record in this case clearly shows that Admiral failed to conduct a reasonable inquiry 
! " 

in light ofthe information it possessed. There is no genuine dispute regarding any ofthe following 

facts: Admiral is a surplus lines insurer that insures high-risk doctors who it categorizes as gray or 

distressed, and who are charged a higher premium than other physicians. Fisher was one such high 

risk "doctor, which Admiral has acknowledged. R552, 1005-1007. As part of the application 

process, Admiral required Fisher to authorize Admiral and its agents to make any inquiry in 

connection with his application, and Admiral had free and complete access to the WVBOOM's 

complaint file against him. R118-19. However, despite the facts that (1) Admiral knew Fisher was 

a high-risk doctor; (2) FIsher told Admiral that there was a pending WVBOOM complaint against 

17 Fisher also told Crouse that some fonner employees had "turned him in" because they were 
looking for whistle blower protection after being fIred for embezzling $300,000. R567. Crouse relayed 
this infonnation to NSUI, yet Admiral never asked any follow-up questions or otherwise attempted to 
detennine who ''turned him in," who those persons "turned him in" to, andlor what they accused him of 
when they "turned him in." RI008. 
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him; and (3) Fisher told Admiral that the WVBOOM accused him ofpre-signing prescription pads _ 

(a serious charge, which, if true, would violate W.Va. C.S.R. § 24-1-18.l.cc), Admiral made no 

effort to ,?ontact the WVBOOM or review the WVBOOM's complaint prior to issuing a policy to 

Fisher. R999. 

On the other hand, after Admiral learned that a claim was made against Fisher, Admiral 

immediately had an investigator contact the WVBOOM about the pending complaint, and then used 

the infonnation it learned from the WBOOM as a basis to deny coverage. R895, 924, 932. Thus, 

Admiral plainly recognized that the WVBOOM complaint against Fisher was a red flag and an 

important source ofinformation, yet hdid not even read the complaint until Fisher attempted to use 

the insurance that he had purchased. Given these clearly established facts, the circuit court properly 

determined that Admiral had engaged in post-claim underwriting. 

v. 	 ADMIRAL'S ARGUMENT THAT COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL SHOULD HAVE 

BEEN APPLIED TO THE WVBOOM'S FINDINGS IS WITHOUT MERIT . 


. As a threshold matter, Admiral lacks standing to raise this issue on appeal for the same 

reasons that it lacks standing to appeal the rescission issue. Moreover, unlike the rescission issue, 

the circuit court did not even orally rule on whether it would give preclusive effect to the 

WVBOOM's [mdings; it simply stated that it would take the matter under advisement. R133 7. 

However, even ifAdmiral can somehow appeal a non-ruling, the law is clear that collateral

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